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OPINION and AWARD
COLEMAN, FLORI DA ("Agency" / "  F)mployer" ) :

-and-

AMEITICAN FEDEITATION OF GOVERNMENT:
EMPLOYEES, COUNCIL oF PIt lsoN LoCALS: FMCS Case No.08-56s32
LOCAL 506'  COLEMAN, FLORIDA ("Union")  :  Gr icvance of  Johnny Phi l l ips

' l 'he 
undersigned dcrives.jLrr isdict ion as Arbitrator ol ' this rtrattcr l ionr appointment by thc

part ics pursuant to Art iclc 32 ("Arbitrat ion") o1'thc el l 'cct ivc Collectivc Bargaining Agrccntcnt

("Master Agrccmcnt" or "Agrccnrcnt". e ntcrccl into the rccorcl as . l-  I  '  ;  bctwccn the part ies. ' l 'hc

appoirttment directs thc Arbitrator to conduct a hcaring and issuc a l lnal ancl bincl ing dccision on thc

issuc prcscntcd. A ltcaring was conductcd on Irebruary 19.2009 at t l-rc l icdcral Correctional

Cionrplex. Clolcman. lr lorida. al icr duc noticc was lorwardcd to thc part ies by thc Arbitrator. 
' l 'he

part ics wcrc al lbrcled l ir l l  opporlunity to pre st: nt evidcnce (ancl post hcaring submissions) in support

o l ' t l ic i r  pos i t ions on thc lb l low, ing:  ISSUE2:

Did the Agertcy. as l imployer. violate the Master Agrccmcnt by rcassigning Ollrccr
. lohnny Phil l ips to work outside the insti tut ion dr-rr ing thc periocl he was bcing
investigatcd lbr his conduct ol ' |ebruary 10,2008 and by denying hint the opportunity
to work over t ime bctween February 11.2008 and Junc 18.2008? I f  so,  what  shal l
be the renredy?

Appearing fbr the Agency: Appcaring fbr the Union:
Andrea Geiger. [rsq.,Agency Representative Daniel Bethea. [Jnion Advocatc
David IIonsted. Scrvices Special ist . l im seidcl. Clhief Steward Cornplex
D. B. Drew. Complex Warden Johnny Phil l ips. Grievant

l .  Bxhibi ts are nrarkecl (J- )  fbr Joint l :x l r ib i tst  ( l : -  )  for t rrnploycr l rx lr ib i ts;  and (U- )  lbr Union lrxhibi ts.

2. 
' l 'he 

parl ies could not st ipulate to an Issue and. accordingly,  this Arbi trator f ianied the lssue fbr the part ies.



Witnesses Appearing fbr the Agenc)
Drusil la Wiggins, Employee Service Special ist
.lcnnif-er Var.rghn. Special Agent - CAB
Kevin Rison. Employee Service Manager
Wendall Dulay, Spccial Agent - OIG. USD.I

(by Telephone)
Robert Westbrook. Spccial Agcnt. OIA.

Witnesses Appearing for the Union
Cecil  l loward. President. Local 506
.l inr Seidel. Chicl 'Steward - t lSP-2
Tina Summerton. Capt - Security
. lose Casti l lo. Sr. Of1lccr Spccial ist
Capt. Clinton Srnith. Complex Captain
Anthony Ryals. Matcrial I landler- Supcrvisor
Taronica Whi te. C'orrecti  on O I l lccr Spccial ist

BACKGROUND

l'he Federal Bureau of Prisons (thc. "BOP" or "Agency". as thc "[ lmployer") and thc CoLrncil

ol-Prison Locals. including thc American Irederalcd o1'Govcrnntcnt Employecs. Local 506 (the

"LJnion") arc part ics to thc Mastcr Agrcenrcnt. which applies to thc Ircdcral ( 'orrcctiunal Cionrplcx

at C-'olcnran. Ir lorida (hcrcinalicr. "( 'olcntan" or thc "Conrplcx").

Corrcctiot i  Ofl lccr .krhnny I '}h i l l ips (hcrcinalicr. "Oll lccr Phil l ips" or thc "Gricvant") has bccn

eniployed by the BOI'Ibr 8% ycars, pcrlbrming at thc Colenran conrplcx lbr thrce ycars and

previously assigned to thc Atlantar, Georgia contplex, lbr l ive years.

' l 'he 
nratter here in arose l ionr an incidcnt occurring at thc Cole utan contplex on l ie bruary 10.

2008 as Oll lccr Phil l ips entcred thc screening area at USl'}-2 to start his work shi l i .  Whcn Oll lcer

Phillips' personal possessions wcrc screened through a nretal detector, it was discovered that hc had

a cell  phone and charger in his luncl i  bag. Once revealed and retr ieved, Ofl lcer Phil l ips returned the

cell phone and charger to his personal ar"rtomobile. He proceeded tlirough screening and began his

workday. The oflcer manning the metal detector infbrmed Opcrations of the incident and fbl lowed

with a written report. (See A-9).

On February 11, 2008. the Agency gave Ofl icer Phil l ips noticc that he was being placed

under investigation and rcassigned to the central administrative building (CAB). Off lcer Phil l ips

was not perntitted to work overtime and not allowed to work the hospital, perimeter patrol, or any

othcr correctional post on the LJSP-2 roster.
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The following chronological dates are also relevant to the present ntatter:

- March 6. 2008: Off icer Phil l ips was interviewed by Special Agents Dulay ancl
Brunncr of the Ofllce of Inspector General ("OIG").

- Apri l  l l .  2008: 
' l 'he 

Union f l led a grievance or-r behalf of Ofl lcer Phil l ips,
requesting l ic be nrade wholc 1br lost compensation. (Sce . l-2).

- In May 200U: Oll icer Phil l ips was interviewed by Spccial Agent I{.  Wcstbrook o1'
thc Off lcc o1-lnterrral Affairs.

- May 12.2008: 
' l 'hc 

Agency responded by proceclural ly rc. iecting thc gricvancc l irr
fai l ing to arl iculatc a violation o1'the Master Agrceme nt. 

' l 'he 
Agcrrcy added that.

"As to the merits of your claim, please be advised that you are currcntly bcing trcatcd
fair ly and cqually. bascd on sirni larly sitr"rated employccs." (See . l-3).

-  May 27.2008:  ' fhc 
Union invoked arb i t ra t ion lbr  Of  f lccr  Phi l l ips.  (Scc. l -4) .

-. lune 19.200ti:  Oll iccr Phil l ips was returnccl to regular clr-rty status.

- Junc 23. 2008: 
' l ' l ic 

Union requcsted an update to thc status o1' the OIA
inr  est igat ion.

- . lLrly 2. 2008: Mr. AgLrirre re sponded: "Your case is pencling closure by OIA... once
closcd. 1'ou wil l  bc rccciving a lettcr f iont the wardcn." (Scc tJ-3).

- JLrly 8. 2008: Warclcn D.B. Drcw issued a letter stating " ' l 'hc Ofl lce ol ' Intcrnal
Allbirs has concluded their investigation and dctcrmined the charge/allegation to
unlbunded. 

' l 'hcrclbrc. 
thc casc has bcen closcd." (Scc U-4).

- Irebruary I 1,2009: [Jnion ltepresentative Danicl l ]cthea rr:ce ived noticc l iont BSM,
Kcvin Rison's rnemo (datcd.luly 8. 2008). attaching Warclcn Drcw's lcttcr advising
Oflcer Phil l ips that the casc was closed and he was cleared of any wrongdoing.

The Union contended that. beginning February 1 l ,  2008, the Agency took action against

Ofl lcer Phil l ips which had not takcn against othcr employecs sirr i i larly cl iarged and violatcd Art icle

6 and Art iclc 18 of the Master Agreement by lai l ing to treat Olf icer Phil l ips lair ly and equitable.

According to thc LJnion. during the period between l. 'cbruary 12. 2008 and . lunc 1 8, 2008, Mr.

Phil l ips was unjustly removed and reassigned from his reglr lar work location and not al lowed tcr

work overt ime or night dif1'crential.
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The Union maintained that Ofllcer Phillips was taken out of his regular duty status fbr a

period of 121 days and bypassed for a total of 972 times at eiglit hours per shifi. It was the position

of the Union that Of f icer Phil l ips is cnti t led to thc number of overt irne hours worked (a total of 486

overt ime hours) fbrthc l2l days previous to his removal l iorn thc complex.

' fhe 
Union reqr.rcsted thc Arbitrator to l lnd the l lnrploycr in violatiorr ol ' the Agreenrent and

to award Oll lcer Phil l ips lost ovcrt irne conrpensation in thc anrount of 461 hours. wit l i  intcrest

perntittcd by statLrtc.

- l 'hc 
Agency contcndcd that. on l"ebruary 10,2008. Oll lccr I '}hi l l ips entercd thc clectronic

search area it-t  USP2 at thc Colenran Cornplcx. impropcrly carrying contrabancl (a ccl l  phonc and

chargcr). arousing sccurity concerns and causing thc invcstigation ol 'his actions.

Init ial ly. the Agcncy rel ied on two cases in support ol ' i ts posit ion that Ofl lcer I '}hi l l ips was

rcmoved l iom regular duties "as a sccurity measurc based upon al lcgations involving thc grievant." 'r

'l 'hc 
Agency contended that, by moving the Grievant to a tenrpolary assigr-rrr-rcnt dLrring the period

of investigation ol ' the al legatior-rs. securi ly concerns.justi f ied the denial of overt inrc'opportunit ies

during the period ol ' ternporarl rcassignnient and pending the investigation.

Tlie Agency lurther maintained that the Union cor.r ld not meet i ts bLrrden of proof in the f irst

prong of the back pay test because'1he personnel actions wcre not unlusti l ied or unwarranted'.4

3. United States Departr lcntofJust ice Federal  BLrreaLr of Pr isons United Statcs Penitent iar '_y. Marion. l l l inois
(Agenc.v)and Alnerican }"ederat iorr  ol 'Ciclvernrnent Eurplcl .vees Local2343 Counci lol 'Pr ison Locals(Union).
6 0 F L R A N o .  1 3 8 . 2 0 0 5 W 1 . 6 7 5 1 0 7  ( F . l , . l { . A . ) ( M a r c h  1 4 . 2 0 0 5 ) ; a n d U n i t e d S t a t e s D c p a r t n r c n t o f J u s t i c e
Fcdcral  Burcau of Pr isons Unitcd Statcs Penitcnt iar-v.  I - ]eaunront. ' l 'cxas ( ,Agenc),)  and Anrer ican Irederat ion
of  Governrnent  Ernp loyees  Loca l  C-33 Counc i l  o f  Pr ison  Loca ls  (Un ion) .  59  I .LRA No.  75 .  2003 WL
22964329 (F L.R.A.) (Dec.8, 2003).

4 . ' l ' he  Agency  re f 'e r red  to  t l re  de f in i t ion  under  the  Code o l ' I redera l  Regu la t ions  (5  C. t ' .R .  550.803) :
"Unjtrst i f ied or t lnwarral t ted pe rsontrel  act ion nrcans arr act of  cclrrrnission or an act ol-ornission ( i .e . .  fai lLrre
to take an act ion or confer a benef i t )  that an appropriate authori ty subsequent ly determines, on the basis of
substant ive or proccdural  del-ects.  to have been un-just i f icd or unwarrantcd under appl icable law. l ixecut ive
order,  rule,  regulat ion, or mandatorv personnel pol icy establ ished by an agency or through a col lect ive
bargaining agreemcnt.  Suclt  act ions includc pcrsonnel act ions and pay act iorrs (alonc or in conrbinat iorr) ."
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According to the Agency. the investigation of Off icer Phil l ips ( including his removal from

the complex and reassignment without overtime opportr"rnity) was.lustilied when it was reportecl that

an electronic search of his personnel i tems revealed acell  phone and charger.

Moreover, the Agency contended that. even i l ' i ts personnel action in rcnroving Ofl icer

Phil l ips l iom the complex and denying l i is overt ime opportunit ics was Llnwarranted or unlusti f ied,

the Union could not nreet i ts burden of prool ' lbr awarding corlpcnsation. According to t l ic Agcncy,

the lJnion could not provc that Oll iccr l) l i i l l ips wor-rld havc bccn olfbrcd spccil ic ovcrt intc

assignments on spccif ic datcs. I t  was the posit ion ol ' thc Agcncy that thc [Jnion's clcrnand lbr lost

ovcrt ime is spcculative and overt inrc available lbr stal l ' rnarkedly clecreasecl.

The Agency requcsted thc Arbitrator to l lnd that i ts actions in investigating the inciclent,

reassigning Oll lccr Phil l ips and Irot al lowing him to work overt imc, was ncither unjusti l ied nor

unwarranted when considering its security concerns: and. notwithstanding a l inding in the

alternative. to llid that the lost compensation reniedy souglit by tlie lJnion is specr-rlative and does

not meet the legal criteria fbr back pay. Finally, the Agency requested the Arbitrator to dcny the

grievance.

RE,LEVANT CONTRACT LANGUAGE

Art ic le 30 - Discipl inary and Advcrsc Act ions

Sect iond.Rccc lg r t i z ing tha t the  c i rcunrs tanceandcontp lcx i t ieso f  i r rd iv idua lcases lv i l l va ry .
the part ics endorse the conccpt of t i rnely disposit ion of invest igat ion and
discipl inary/advcrse act ions.

2. ctnployees who are the sub. jcct ol-  an invcst igat ion wlrere no discipl inary of
adversc wi l l  be proposcd wi l l  be not i f led ol ' th is dccision rvi thin seven (7) working clays
after the revicw of the i rrvest igat ion by the Chief Execut ivc Of l lcer or designee. This pcr iod
of ' t i r lc nray be adjustcd to account fbr per iod of leavc.

Sect ion g. 
- l -he 

Elnployer retains the r ight to respond to an al leged ol l -ense by an employee
rvhich nray advcrsely affbct the l : rnployer 's conl ldence in the ernployee or the sccuri ty or
ordcr ly operat ion of the inst i tut ion. I 'he Ernployer may elect to reassign the enrployee to
atrother job within the inst i tut ion or rernove the enrployee t iom the inst i tut ion pending
invest igat ion and resolut ion of the matter,  in accordance with appl icat ion laws, rules, and
regulat ions.
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EXHIBITS

JOINT DI ISCRIPTION

J- I  Mastcr Agrccment
l-2 Clr ievance
J-3 5/5/0tJ Wardcn Drew: lLcsporrse to gr ievancc
J-4 Invocat ion of arbi trat ion

U N I O N

U- I  Merno o f  inves t iga t ion
t l -2 516108 adrninistrat ive inquiry
U-3 l l2 l08 G. Aguirre e-rnai l  ro Mr. I rhi l l ips
U-4  718108 Wardcn Drcw lc t tc r  Lo  Mr .  Ph i l l i ps
U-5  2 l l4108 Larorsha Perers  e - rna i l  to  Mr .  Ph i l l i ps
U-6  l l l 8 l07  l r l cc t ron ic  scarches  proccdurcs
U-7 Review of Federal  Bureau of Pr isons'  Discipl inary system Rcport  l -2004-008
U- t i  4 l l l08 . l .  Se ide l  mcet ing  rnerno
[J-9 6123108.1. Seidcl  to Warden Drew Casc Updarc
U-10 Memo of understanding between Union and Management overt inrc roster

pr0graln

U- l  I  2 l l7 l09 ' l ' a ron ica  Whi te  ovcr l ime Surnrna t ion
U-12 O1 ' l rcer  I ' }h i l l i ps  was ass igned to  the  CAI I  l ionr  2 l12  un I i l2 l lg
U-  l3  6120108 over t i r rc  log
U- l4 6120108 total  overt i rne paid for 2l l  l /08 through 612l l0B
tJ- |  5 Ycarly pay scale lbr thc GS-3 through CS- |  0

A G E N C Y

A-  I  2 l l0 l08  rnerno
A-2 Pol icy statel t lent on the standards ol-ernployec conduct
A-3  2 l l8 l09 . le r ry  S loan to  Kev in  R ison Over - t i rnc  Mcmcr
A-4 l ' iscal  Year l i rnployee Sumrnary: 

' l 'otal  
salar ies paid oLrt  to Mr. Phi l l ips

(4 months pr ior to invcst igat ion)
A-5 2007 DO.l  Payrol l  Calendar
,4-6 2008 DOJ I ' ]ayrol l  Calcrrdar
A-7 Fiscal Year Employee Summary: 

' fotal  
salar ies paid out to Mr. Phi l l ips

(4 months subsequent to invest igat ion)
A-8 Ncw search procedures
A-9 2l l0108 A.R. Ternples Incident Involving staf f  search r lerno
A-10 2l l0108 M. 

' fe ' lera 
merro to Mr. 

' l 'ernples
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RE,VIEW OF RECORD

Ofllcer . lohnny Phil l ips. employed by the BOP fbr eight-and-a-half ycars (at the t ime of

hearing), testi f ied on his own bcl ial l- .  describing his erlploymrent history eurd the inciclcnt ol ' l iebruary

10.2008. Working at thc Colenran Conrplex fbr rnore than threc years. Oll lccr Phil l ips was

previously assigned to thc Atlanta. Georgia complex (USP2) lbr f lve years. As Olhcer Phil l ips

explained. he transl'erred fiom Atlanta to Coleman to pursue the opportunity fbr promotion to GS-8.

(Tr .20) .5

Offlcer Phil l ips tcsti l iccl t l iat. on Fcbruary 10. 2008. hc rcportecl l i rr work al icr working a

double shi l i  thc prior day. ( ' l ' r .22) I Ic was scl iedulcd to rcl icvc anotltcr of l iccr working in thc towcr

post. According to the Grievant. he was running behind and lel i  his vchiclc in a rursh. As hc cntcrcd

the liont lobby entrance.

...  I  placed al l  my equipment in the number one bin and set my fbod itcms on the
counter to the traincrs('. ... As I walkcd througli thc cx-ray ntctal detector and I bcgan
dressing back lbr my dr.rty7. therc was - - Mr. 

'l 'cmplcs 
told mc your bag wc nccd tt'r

check out what's in your bag that the metaldetector is going o1'1. So I said, okay. So
Istartcd pull ing i tcms ottt o1'rny bag anc' l  I  opcnccl orrc bag up ancl cl iscovcrccl I  hacl
fbrgot my cell phonc and charger was in there. And I told him I saicl, "Sorry about
that. 

' l 'hat 's 
nry cel l  phone and chargcr." ( ' l ' r .22)

5. I-eaving lr is fanr i ly in At lanta. Off icer Phi l l ips f i rst  roorned with another transferee in thc Colernan, then
becatne transient.  Wlten I tot  working overt i rne, the Grievant returned to At lanta on his days ol1. As Ofl lcer
Phi l l ips explained, he stayed with his brother in St.  Petersburg, Flor ic la wherr working overt i rne or " l iv ing
out of Iny car doing t l te overt i tnc sending nroncy horne." ( ' l ' r .2 I  ) .  As the CrievanL later conf lrrned. bccausc
he worked a lot  of  oveft intc and did not havc a residence at thc Cclrnplex. he ol ien slept in his car bctween
shif ts and shorvered in the training center.  (Tr.28).

6. On cross-exant inat ion, thc Crievant nraintained that he had a lunch bag and a grocery bag. ( ' l ' r .48).  He
placed thc lunch bag ort  thc convel 'or bel t  to go through thc x-ray arrd thc othcr bag was givcn to thc screener.
(Tr.49).  The grocery back contained a gal lon of mi lk,  a box of Ritz Crackers, and a third i tem. (Tr.49

7. On cross-examinat ion, the Crievant explained that gett ing dressed and 'gearing up'  rneant putt ing back
on h is  be l t  and c l ips  ho ldcrs .  (Tr .50) .
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On cross-examination. Otllcer Phillips explained how the phone and charger got into the bag.

He described how he worked a dor.rble shift the day befbre and was at a hospital whcn hc got relieved

earl ier than expectcd. l-hus, he gathered up and threw his belongings in his bag. It  ended up in the

plastic bag into another bag with thc box of crackers. (Tr.53). According to the Gricvant. the cell

phone placcd in the plastic bag endcd Lrp in thc box of crackcrs also placcd in thc plastic bag. ( ' l ' r .55).

l'he Gricvant testilled that he returned the phone and cliargcr to his car. then re-entered thc

building and clcared t l ic nrctal detector. (Tr.23). I Ie conrnrcnced his sixtccr-r hour tour.

Ofl lcer I 'hi l l ips testi l lcd that. on thc lbl lowing day (FebrLrary I l  .  2008). whilc working in thc

G-l housing unit 62. l ic was rel ieved and directed to thc report to thc CAIS building. ( ' l ' r .23).

Ollcer Phil l ips related that hc was walkcd out of his ofl lce and advised "that the only t l i ing I would

bc doing pcr Captain . lcnkins wor-rld be 7:30 to 4:00 Monclay through Irr iday ancl I  woulcl not bc

doing nothing else." ( ' l  r .24). 
' l 'he 

Grievant was not pcrmitted to work in t l ic hospital and was askecl

to take himsclf of l ' thc ovcrl ime l ist.n

When OfIcer Phi l l ips was quest ioned about his overt ime pr ior to l iebruary l0 'r ' ,  he stated,

I normally worked any overtime they had available Monclay throrlgh Friday on my
regular 5-day work rveek ancl on my days ot l - lwoulcl  do doLrblcs. ( ' l ' r .25).

Olllccr I 'hi l l ips tcsti f lcd that, altcr he was renroved l}om thc insti tut ion, he l lrst workcd in

the administrative arca (a conf'ercncc room. "out o1'sight"). nronitoring phones. and thcn movcd to

the "l iont lobby arca." ( ' l ' r .32). According to thc Grievant.

.. .  I  l 'elt  kind of embarrasscd and hr-rnri l iated and kincl of disgusted bccausc you havc
to wear headphones to do phone monitoring and not do it  on the speaker phone
becausc tlieyprison inmates. l'ernale inrnates around where you couldn't allow tlierr-r
to hear the convcrsation about the inmates' population. And peoplc would corne in
and ask me they said. what are you doing up here?" ('l 'r.33).

8. ' l 'he request  rvas tnade by L ieutcnant  Hughes.  USP- l  Adrnin l - icutcnant .  ( ' l ' r .24) .  As the Gr ievant
acknorv ledged,  he d id not  take h is  name ofTthe over t ime l is t  and s igned up fbr  over l inre dur ing the whole
quarter .  ( - l ' r .25) .
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And then some people would come in and stop in the fiont door befbre they come in
and ... .1 could tel l  they was of l ike, " ' fhis is thc guy." or they wolrld come in and look
at me a certain way. I felt really fiustratcd sitting out there alier being - - the nornral
procedure was out of sight in a side room lbr phone ntonitoring. But about a month
in I was moved out f iont. (Tr.34).

I was really l iustratcd about the sitLration. but I had to let i t  run i ts coursc because nry
wif-e .. . . .  my wifc was rcal ly upset and stressing at thc t ime. .. . i t  real ly hurt nre to sit
there and have to go througl-r this day-in and day-out. ... People won't speak to me
l ike thcy uscd ro.  . . .  (Tr .36) .

Ollrccr Phil l ips also tcsti f lcd that he l ir l ly cooperated with thc Oll lce ol ' thc Inspector General

and its announced invcstigation (approximately one ntc'rnth al ie r the l"ebruary 2008 incident) by "Mr.

Dulay and Mr. Brunncr." ( ' l ' r .2(r)." According to t l ic witncss. he also provided cell  phone records.

( ' fr.27). Al ier thc discussion with the two agents. hc was assurcd by his conduct was "a sinrplc

mistake" and told by the OIG agents that t l iey would "del-er and not pursl le" the ntatter lurther.

(- l ' r .29). Ofl lcer I)hi l l ips latcr rcccivcd thc OI(i  rcport.r0 l lc was al lowccl back into thc insti tr.rt ion

on . l t tnc 19. 2008. when inlbrmcd by Lieutenant Shaw. ( ' l -r.2t) ancl 
' l ' r .31 

). l i roni that point in t ir .nc,

Of l lccr Phil l ips was also perrr i t tcci to work overt inre . ( ' l ' r .32). I  Ie hacl been out his posit ion ancl not

pcrmitted to work overt inrc lbr a pcriocl ol '  l2l days. ( ' l ' r .36).

IJpon rctttrning ttt  thc insti tLrt ion. Ofl icer Phil l ips rcqucsted inlbrmation l iom Georgc Aguirrc

about his statr-rs. but was infbrmed t l iat the investigation was sti l l  clpcrr. As Olf lccr Phil l ips

conflrnrcd. i t  was not unti l  Fcbruary 2009 that hc reccivecl conlirntation thc invcstigit t i t)n was

completed and hc was clcarcd ( ' l ' r .38 ancl see LJ-4). 
' l 'hus, 

while the invesligation was closccl in. luly

2008. OIf icer Phil l ips was not given notice o1'the closurc unti l  Fcbruary 2009. ( l ' r .39).r '  According

to t l ie Grievant, considering that being out of work set him back and damaged his quali ty ol- l i l -e and

that of his family in Atlanta (Tr.43).

9. Wendal l  Dulay and Jef l iey Brunner,  SpecialAgents -  U.S.Dept.of Just ice, Off lce of Inspector General .

l 0 . O f f i c e r P h i l l i p s t e s t i f l e d t h a t . p r i o r t o r e t u r n i n g t o t h e i n s t i t u t i o n o r r J u n e  l g t h , h e a l s o s p o k e t o R o b e r l
Westbrook, Special  Agent o1-the Ol l lce o[ ' lnrcrnal AI ' f i r i rs.  ( ' l ' r .30).

I  I  .  Thc Gricvant acknorvlcdgcd that hc was not on lcave betwecn July 8, 2008 and February 2009. (Tr.4l) .
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The Union also presented the testimony of Cecil Howard. employed by the Agency fbr

sixteen years (presently. an Electrical Worker Supcrvisor) and the Unior-r Presidcnt (fbr six ycars).

The witness expressed his fanri l iari ty with thc "entrancc search procedure s of BOP employccs at the

laci l i ty" and identif led thc written proccdures. (1'r.61 and see Li-6rr). As Mr. I loward recognizcd,

the purpose of the procedurcs was to prevcnt unauthorizcd itcnts coming into t l ic insti tut ion.rr

( ' l ' r .67) .

When questioncd as to the application ol '  the proccdurcs. Mr. I loward lelatecl that an

cniployee sett ing olf the mctal detector (with something in their pockct. including a cel l  phone)

would be permitted to rcturn the itcm to their car. '* 1' l ' r .701. Neverthcless, he testi l led t l iat Ofl lcer

Phil l ips, under similar circunrstances. was accused ol 'attempting to introduce contrabanci into thc

insti tut ion. (1r.72). Rcsponding to questions relating to other stafl '  members placed under

investigation for al lcging introduction of contrabandr5. Mr. Howard related that two employecs were

pernrit ted to continue to work their post and to work overt i l le.r6 ( ' fr .77-78).

Jim Seidel, crnployed by the Agency sir.rcc 1994. is a Senior Oll lccr Spccial ist irr thc t iSP-2

Clolctnan and the C'hicl 'Steward f irr the [Jnion. ( ' l ' r .94 ancl 
' l ' r .96). 

Mr. Seidcl rcprcscntcd Oll icer

Phil l ips during thc grievancc proceclure (and during thc invcstigations). ( ' l ' r .96).

12. ExecLrted by thc Bureau of Pr isons'Nat ional Cerrtral  Ol l lce and the Cor.rnci l  President.

13. As the lv i tness test i f lcd, " . . .  i t  lvas necessary fcrr  the Agency to put this in place to stop the substanccs
f iort t  entcr ing into thc inst i tut ion that shouldn' t  be gone in.  such as contraband or whatever t :  Isc."  (- l ' r .69).

14. Whi le the Agency objccted to the opinion of t l re lv i tness being of l 'ered in evidence. this Arbi trator
accepted Mr. Howard cor.npetent to test i l i ,above his obscrvat i t ' l r rs.

15. Mr. Howard, lv i th knorvlcdgc ol- the incidcnts result ing l ionr his posit ic ' rn as [Jnion President.  test i f ied
that the f i rst  ernployee, OfTrcer Viera (employed in the FCI low securi ty level)was placed urrder invest igat ion
lbr introduct ion of contrabaltd.

16. Whi le atternpt ing to prcclude test inrony relat ing to the invcst igat ions tbr " introduct ion ol 'contraband,"
the Agency acknorvledged that this Arbitrator is permitted to determine, on its face. whether preclusion fronr
rvork and preclusion f iorn overt intc was reasonablc.  (Tr.80).
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As Mr. Seidel testi fred. he was with Off icer Phil l ips during the OIG investigation and

concluded from his questions to thc investigators that the incident was cctnsidercd "a simple

ntistake." (Tr.97). According to thc witness, the OIG reporl conflrrned that l iaving the cell  phone

and charger on his possession as he entcrcd the insti tut ion was a mistakc.

Mr. Seidcl testi l led that he also f l led a grievancc on bchall 'ol-Ol ' l lcer Phit l ips in Apri l  2008,

not only because he was assigncd to thc CAB building. but also bccausc hc was taker"r o11-thc

overtimc list. ('l 'r. 100). During the subsequent period, he made atten.rpts to determine the status o1'

the investigation. He acknowledged that Oll icer Phil l ips was'brought back to duty'on.lune 19.

2008 .  (T r . l 04 ) .

On.lune 23. 2008. Mr. Seidcl lbrwarded a nrenro to Warclcn Drcw. rcvicwing thc incidcnt

over the period o1-t inre betwccn l"cbruary ancl thc clate o1-Oll lccr I '}hi l l ip's rcturn to work ancl

requesting thc status ol ' the ci lse. ' t  As Mr. Seidel testi l icd. hc never rcceivcd a rcsponsc f iont

Wardcn Drew. ( ' l ' r .106). ' l 'o 
thc Union. thcre rcnrained a clucstion of" 'what was thc changc' i",  sincc

Oll lcer Phil l ips u'as "pLlt back.. jLrst no i1s, and or buts, r ight back to duty status." 
' l 'hc 

Agcncy gave

no explanation. ( ' l ' r .108). According to the email fbrwardcd l iont the Agencyr8 through

Mr.  Seidel  a lso ident i f ied the le t ter  dated. lu ly  8.2008.  addressed to Ol l rcer  I ,h i l l ips  f iom

D.B.Drew, Complex Warden (sec U-4). which stated:

"On February 10.2008. an al legation of lJnauthorized I l lectronic Dcvicc Introduction
was made against you. 'fhe 

Oflice of lnternal Allairs has concluded their
investigation and detcrmined tlic charge/allcgation to bc r-rnlbunded. l-hcrclbrc. thc
case is closed.

I  7.  Speci l ical ly asking about " . . .  t l te status of this case, to i rrc lude whether or not i t  is st i l l  act ive." (See U-9).
l r t  part ,  the Uniorr rvas prrrsrr ing i ts representat ive dut ies. ( ' l ' r .  107).

18. Accordirrg to the witr tess, on l rebruary I  l ,  2009, he rcceived a I 'ax l iorn ESM, Kevin Rison, attaching
Warden Drew's July 8. 2008 let ter advising Off lcer Phi l l ips that the case was closed arrd Off icer Phi l l ips was
clcarcd of any wrongdoing. (- l ' r .109).
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We fully understand the anxiety and apprehension that staff fbels when an allegation
is made against thenr. Howcver, in order to maintain the integrity ol-our working
environment, we ntust thoror.rghly investigatc every accusation brought to our
attention. We sincerely appreciate your cooperation in bringing this to a close. .. ."

' l ' ina 
Sutnmerton. cnrployed by thc BOP fbr cigl i t-and-onc-l.ral l 'years, preser.rt ly holds thc

posit ion o1'Captain Secrctary at t l ic Coleman Complex. ( ' l -r. l  15). Ms. Sumrnerton testi l led she was

previously under investigation lbr " introduction ol-contraband."" '  ( ' l ' r . l  l5). She also tcsti l led that

she was al lowed to work overl ime during the period of her invcstigation, but chose not to. [ , ikewise,

she was not taken ol l 'he r post nor place in thc l iont lobby o1'the CIAB. ( ' l ' r .  I  I  6). She was reccntly

clcarcd o1'"bringing in cigarcttes to an inmate."20 ( ' l ' r .1 1(r). Neverthele ss, during that period ol '

t i rne, she was pcrnti t ted to work insidc thc insti tr.rt ion.

. lose Casti l lo is a Scnior Ofl lcer Spccial ist, employed by thc BOI'} fbr nine-and-a-hall 'years.

While working at othcr laci l i t ies. Mr. Casti l lo has been at thc Colcn-ran Complex sincc 2005.

( ' l ' r .120). Mr. Casti l lo testi l ied that he workcd as a tclephone monitor in l iebruary 2008 and was

directed to ntakc a CID ol ' the tape ol ' the incidcnt ol ' I . 'cbruary 10'r ' .  ( ' l ' r .122). Accorcl ing to thc

witness. whelt observing the tape. hc noticed that Of l icer l)hi l l ips did not see rn ncrvous l lor agitated

as lre proceeded thror"rgh the metal detector.rr ('l 'r.124).

Mr. Casti l lo \ / i . ls also questioncd about his observations ol 'other ernployees taking itcms

through t l ic metal dctcctor. As thc witness testi l led, oncc discovered. employees were pennitted to

rcturn thc i tcms to thcir cars. ( ' l ' r .124). IJe added that. since Ollcer l 'hi l t ip's incident, "everybody

is really scared about i t . . .  bclbre they gct to the door. they are touching themselves. sl iaking

themselves down and go back to the vehicle." (Tr.124-125\.

19. The invest igat ion began in Fcbnrary 2007. ( ' l ' r . l  I  7).

20. She rcceived a lct tcr on l iebruary 2.2009. (- f r . l  l8).

21. Whi le asked to descr ibc his obscrvat ions of thc tape. the lv i tness rnent ioned there rvcrc obstnrct ions in
viewing Off icer Phi l l ips conduct.  The Agerrcy noted that the witness test i f led that he also lost s ight of  the
Gricvant dur ing t i rncs he rvas passing through the nretal  detcctor.  ( ' l ' r .126).
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Clint Smith also testi f led fbr the Union and. as Complex Captain (employed by the BOP fbr

fourteen years). could not recall anybody (other than Officer Phillips) bcing placed in the front lobby

while under investigation. (1-r.128). Captain Smith had a recollection of a staffmember bringing

in a cel l  phone into the insti tut ion and. once noti l led. al lowccl to rcturn thc i tcr-n to their car. An

invcstigatiol l  was conrmenced at the t inrc i t  was reported. (1'r.133). I le was awarc that sontebody

had becn pulled ol l ' their post and placed in the CAB building while under investigation. I le was

no tawareo l ' anyoncbe ingass igned to thc lobbywh i l cunder invcs t i ga t i on .  ( ' l ' r . 143 ) .

Anthony I{yals. eniploycd by the BOP lbr one year and seven nronths, holds the position ol'

Material Handler supervisor. I le is currently (at the t irne o1'the hearing) under invt 'st igatiotr olt  two

charges. ( ' l ' r .145). Mr. I tyals testi l lcd that he is pernti t ted to work overt inte and is working his

normal job.  (Tr .147 and 148) .

' fhe 
lJnion also called Coniplex Warden Darryl Drew to testi fy. In thc posit ion ol 'warden

since 2003 (init ial ly at the FCI Ray Brook. New York faci l i ty.). Warden Drew has been in his present

capacity as Warden at FCC Colenian since January 200t3. ( ' l ' r .  I  50). 
' l 'he 

Wardcn was qucstioncd

as to his knowledge concerning Oll lcer I 'hi l l ips' investigation, bcing placccl outsidc the insti tut ion

and dcnied ovcrt inre dr.rr ing the period ol 'his invcstigation t l irough.lunc 23.2008.

As Warden Drew tcsti lred, i t  was l i is decision to placc Oll lccr I 'hi l l ips or.rtsiclc thc securt:

perimeter during the investigation. He also re lbrrcd Oll lccr Phil l ips to thc OIA lbr al lcgations o1'

misconduct lbr an attcnrpted introdr"rct ior.r ol 'contrabancl into the laci l i ty. ( ' l ' r .152).

Warden Drew recognizcd that tlie electronic search procedures fbr entry into thc institution

(U-6) and the specilic provision which allowed BOP eniployees setting off the metal dctector to take

the item to their vehicle in order to clear the metal detector. (Tr. l53). He acknowledged it  was

"possible" that an employee could forgot a cel l  phone and charge was in his possession when passing

through the metal detector. (Tr. l58).
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Finally, when questioned if he was aware of anyone else in the position of being investigated

was placed outside of the institute or denied the opportunity to work overtime hours, aside from

Officer Phil l ips. Warden Drcw acknowledged. "No. .. .  none that I sr.rpervisc." (Tr. l  59). Nor did he

have knowledge that the lctter declaring Off- icer Phil l ip's invcstigation and case closcd (datcd . luly

8 , 2 0 0 8 ) h a d n o t b e e n r e c c i v e d b y O f f i c c r I ' ] h i l l i p s o r t h e [ J n i o n u n t i l  ] r c b r r . r a r y  I I . 2 0 0 9 . ( f r . I 6 I ) .

Counscl fbr the Agcncy also qucstioned Wardcn Drew. Ol'notc, thc witness clescribed the

Clolentan complex as l lvc insti tut ions. including a ccntral administration building. 
' l 'here 

were lbur

wardens sLrpcrvising thc l lvc insti tr-rt ions. In acldit ion to the t i t le ol" 'Contplex Wardcn". Warclen

Drcw has operatioltal authority ol 'Pen 2; while Warden Middlcbrooks has operational authority ol '

Pen 1. 
' l 'ogether, 

thc two rvarclcn has supervisory authority ol ' thc Ce ntral Adntinistration BLri lding.

Pen I and Pen 2 are the "high security" insti tut ions." (Tr. 165- 166). In refbrring to thc investigation

of Oll lcer I '}hi l l ips. Warden Drew explaincd:

It was rcported by stalf mernbers that thcre was an incidcnt that occurrcd at the fiont
lobby. And stal l 'outl ine. in the l.ncnros. their corrccrrls as wcll  as thcir pcrccptions
of an attempt of introduction of a cel l  phone into the laci l i ty. 

' l 'he 
infbrmation and

tl ic al legations wcrc rel 'errcd to the Ofl lce ol ' lnternal Al l ir irs anc' l they subsequently
did an investigation on thosc al legations. .. .  I t  was notecl that i t  was vcry suspicious
(  l ' r .  |  66-  167 )

.. .  i t 's a requirement that i t  be rel 'erred to the Off lce of Internal Affairs by al l  of us.
I lut thc instanccs that wcrc dctai led in terms ol ' the activity. thc behavior, and t l tc
overal l  detection of a cel l  phone and charger in a box. rose to the level of being a
concern lbr management.

.. .  I f  cel l  phones are introduced into the faci l i ty then it  directly. jeopardizes our abil i ty
to bc able to ct-tsurc the salety ol ' the public, stafl .  the inmatcs, and the orderly
running of the insti tut ion. An inmate would have thc abil i ty to communicate without
be ing monitored. which is a requirement within the Bureau of Prisons. 

' fhcy 
could

facilitate murder for hirc. sell it on the black market. record information. scnd out
pictures, expose the identities of inmates and staff alike. It's a serious concern
(T r . l 68 -  I  69 ) .

22. Warden Pastrana has authori ty of the Mediurn securi ty inst i tut ion and the "Carnp"
authori ty ovcr thc Lo*, sccuri ty inst i t r"r t ion. ( ' l ' r .165).
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Warden Drew also explained the security concern when considering Officer Phillip's post

in "Tower 7". location in the ccnter of thc recreation yards and the center ol ' the insti tut ion. As the

Warden dcscribed. 
' l 'orver 

7 "providcs oversight of our stal l ' in te rms ol ' l ' i rearnrs, wcaponry oversight

o1-t lrc entire compound. (1-r.172).

Warden Drcw confirmcd that. bascd on his rights under Article 20. section g. he removed

Ofl lcer Phil l ips f iom Pen 2 and reassigned him to the central administrative building. pending thc

deterntination of the investigation. (Tr. l76). I lowcver. on cross-cxamination. the Warden

acknowledgccl there had bccn a numbcr ol ' invcstigations going on at thc t i lnc ancl i t  was only Ofl iccr

Phil l ips who was not al lowed back into the insti tut ion cluring his invcstigation. ( ' l ' r .  I  83). Ancl. in

addit ion, thc Warden could not statc why t l ie decision was made to al low Oll lccr I,hi l l ips back into

the insti tut ion on . lune l9'r ' .  1' l ' r . l  84). 
' l 'he 

Warden cl id not responcl to the LJnion's pointed question

regarding Ofllcer Phillps being treated difl'erently that othcr cases.

' fhe 
[Jnion also callccl ' l 'aronica White to tcsti ly to damagcs cxpcricnccd by Oll icer I '}hi l l ips.

Working in the IIOP since 1996. Ms. White has bccn assigncd to Colcnran I iCCI since 2005. Shc is

currcntly a Senior Oll lccr Spccial ist and also the [Jnion Sccrctary. In the latcr posit ion, shc ovt: rsces

the overl ime procedurcs. the rostcrs and any ofl icers' issues dealing with shi l i  conll icts. ( ' l ' r .  186-

r  87) .

Referencing the MOU (Menrorandum ol'tJnclerstanding bctu,een the LJnion and Manzrgcnrcnt

on thc overt imc roster progranr. see LJ-10), Ms. Whitc lesti f led that she rcvicwcd Ofl lcer Phil l ips'

overt ime roster printout (daily assignmcnts) as to thc 121 days prior to f. 'cbruary 10, 2008. ( fr.189).

Ms. White tcstified tliat shc generated the document regarding Ollrccr Phillips' overtime. (See U-

I  1 ) .
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Based on Ms. White's records and calculations. Off icer Phil l ips worked 486 hours in 81 total

assignments during thc 1 2l days prior to Febrr-rary 1 0'h. 1Tr. 1 94). He clid not work overtinre between

Irebruary l l ' r 'andJune l8rh.  2008.  (Tr .196) .  Ms.  Whi te conf l rmed t l ic re werc 972lost  over t imc

opportunities during that same period ol'time, although not all were available to Ofliccr Phillips.2s

(Tr.200). She calculated that Oflcer Phil l ips lost 72 hours ol 'overt ime opportunity each week

during the period Fcbrr.rary I I 'h to .Junc l9'h. 2008.21

Ofl lcer l)hi l l ips was rccallcd to testi ly t l iat his pay rate as a Ci-8. Step 6 (as ol- l iebrr.rary 2008)

was $24.10 per hour and $36.1 5 ("capped") fbr overt ime hours. (1'r.213).

In response. the Agency presented the testimony of Dusil la Wiggins. an Employee Services

Special ist. responsible fbr I-MR as wcll  as adversc actions. According to l icr tcstintony. shc prepares

thc discipl inary letter and is the kccpcr ol 'rccords.

Ms. Wiggins was qucstioned about reassignnrcnts pcnding cl iscipl inary actions. Shc tcsti l jcd

to her knowledge that "at least two stall's" (other than Offlcer Phillips) have been reassigned to the

CAB during investigations. Wit l i  the exception of the Grievant. Warden Drew was not thc warden

at thc t ime of rcassignntcnt. ( ' I ' r .216). On cross-examination. the witness acknowlcclgcd that the

other employees wert: not itssigrrcd to tlie CAB lobby dr.rring 1he period they r.rndcr investigation.

('I'r.217\.

23. When asked, Ms. White acknowledged that the total  ol-7.116 hours of overt i rne rnissed when OfTlcer
Phi l l ips was bypassed 972 t inres during the period ol 'February I  l ' r ' through Junc l9 'r 'wns not accuratc in that
thebypassedover t imecou ldhaveoccur red f lve t i rnes fbr thesamesh i f i .  (T r .202-203.seeU-14) .

24. Based on Ms. White's calculat iot t  of  "rnaximurn" lost oveft ime opport l ln i t ies, Of lcer Phi l l ips lost f ive
overt ime opporturr i t ies during his rvork rveck and two on each day the Gricvant was off  work (assLrming he
worked double shi f ts on each of his trvo days off) .  At eight (8) hours per shi f t ,  Ms. White calcLr lated that
Off lcer Phi l l ips lost 72 hours of ovcrt inre per wcck. (- l ' r .210).
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The Agency also presented the testimony of Jennif-er Vaughn. employed as a Technician in

the SIA (Special Investigations Agents') off lce in the CAB. Thc SIA is responsible fbr investigating

staff "rnisconduct" cases. ( ' l ' r .219). I t  was Ms. Vaughn who gcnerated thc lctter ol-.f  Lrly 8. 2008 (tJ-

4) to Oll lcer Phil l ips which adviscd him thc case was closcd. According to the witncss, she sent twcr

e-mail noti f lcations to Ofl icer Phil l ips. without response.rt ( ' I ' r .220). She did not recall  checking

to conflrm receipt of the e-mail. since it was not her procedure. ('l-r.222).

Kevin Rison. an Employee Service Manager. was also callcd to testi fy by the Agcncy. I{e

cclnflrntcd t l iat he was awarc ol ' thc irrvcstigation conccrning Oll iccr Phil l l ips ancl dcscribcd his

attempt to detcrmine its status in . lunc 2008. According to thc witness. he contactcd thc SIA and

subsequcntly lcarncd that thc investigation o1'Ofl lcer Phil l ips "was r.rot sustained ancl l ie was al lowed

at t lrat point to come back to work." (Tr.226-227).

' fhe 
witness was ql lestioncd about "temporary assigrrmcnts fbr duty' '  ( ' fAD). I Ie was aware

ol-two other eniployees who had bccn assigncd to thc cAB for tcnrporary cluty. althor,rgh both wcrc

assigncd lbr Workcr's Contpcnsation iniurics. ( ' fr .227). On cross-cxanrination. Mr. I t ison

acknowledgcd that no stal l 'mcmbcr undcr investigation. other than Ofl lcer Phil l ips, was placcd at

the l iont desk of thc CAB to monitor phones. (Tr.250).

Mr. Rison u,as also questioned about Off lcer Phil l ips' request fbr a "hardship" transf-er to

Atlanta during the period ol- his reassignnrent. As the witness related. LJSP Atlanta l irci l i ty was

restructuring ("f ionr a penitcntiary .. . .  to a mediunt sccurity insti tut ion") and not hir ing ofl lcers

during that period. (- l ' r .228).

25. As she explained, the actual let ter is not sent.  But a not i f lcat ion to "stop by thc SIA off ices at their
c o n v e n i e n c c a n d i f t h e y h a v c a t t y q u c s t i c - r n s t h e y c o u l d c a l l  n t c a n d l p u t r n y c x t c n s i o n o n t h c r c . "  ( - f r . 2 2 l ) .
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The witness was further qr.restioned about the overtime hours worked at the Complex

preceding. and during, the t ime lrame that Ofl lcer Phil l ips was reassigned. According to Mr. Rison,

there was $900.000 paid in "cttstody" overtime at thc Complcx between Octobcr 2007 and Fcbruary

2008. but "only" $558.000 paid in overt ime between March 2008 and . luly 2008.rn 1't ' r .Z::; .  With

specilrc ref'erence to Oflicer Pliillips' overtime and overtime inconte between Octobcr 2007 and

February 2008, the witness demonstrated that the Gricvant earned more than $17.000 fbr

approximately 450 overt ime hours. (Tr.236 and U-5).

' l - l ic 
Agency introducccl t l te testimony of t l ic ol l lccr who contplcted thc invcstigation l irr thc

OfIce o1' lnternal Al l ir irs.rT Wendall Dulay. a Spccial Agcnt with thc Departnicnt of ' . lusticc - Ofl lcc

o1' lnspector Generalr*, pe r lbrms intcrnal al lairs'  invcstigations. Inve stigations adclrcss both criminal

and administrative issues. ( ' fr .255). His investigation ol 'Ofl icer Phil l ips. concerning the al legation

of "the possible introduction o1-contraband involving a cel l  phone," was conducted on March 6.

2008. (1'r.255). ' l -hc 
witness acknowlcclgecl that hc cloes not havc thc authority to clccl inc a casc.

nor did hc re f 'cr to Oll iccr l)hi l l ips' casc as "a simple nristake ." ( ' l ' r .258). I lowcver, wli i le not

having authority to nrakc a clecision rcgardirrg thc characterization ol '  the case. SA Dulay

acknowledged tliat he is asked fbr a recommendation by the "deciding olllcial" (of the U.S.

Attorney's ofl ice). (1'r.260). Finally. the witness recognized that the LJ. S. Attorney's ofl ice

decidcd not to do anything with the case. ("fr.260).

26. As Mr. Rison test i f led, overt i rne was reduced due to incrcasing staff  in the correct ional services. As the
witncss acknowledged cln cross-exarninat ion, overt inrc l igLrres rcf- lccted only "correct ional" hclurs and were
actual ly greater than dentonstrated. (Tr.245).

27. The Agency introduced test imonyr through a telephonic connect ion, based on the off icer attending a
training scssion at another locat ion. (- l ' r .25 I  ) .

28. " lnternal Affairs".  ( ' I r .255)
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Robert Westbrook. a Special Agent with the Oflce of Internal Aflairs (OIA), investigates

misconduct al legations in the BOP. In that capacity, he conducted the investigation of Off lcer

Phil l ips on May 5. 2008.re (Tr.263 and 
' l ' r .  

265). Mr. Westbrook relatcd that hc gathered thc

infbrrration. returncd to his ofl lcc in Washington and wrote his l lnal re port.r" I  Ic was awarc that the

charges were not sr.rstaincd and. accordingly, thc report was scnt to Colcnran (on .f uly 2, 2008) fbr

l lnal action. ( ' l ' r .266).

The flnal witness introduccd by the Agency was Andrew I'cmples, an Assistant Education

Supervisor at USP 2. Mr. 
-femples 

identifred the email (f iom the wardens) issuing directions on

intplementing staff searches. (see A-8). He also testi f ied that he supervised and conducted security

searches of staff e ntcring the insti tut ion. (Tr.27 3). On dLrty the nrorning o f 1he inciclent. Mr. Temple s

described thc search ol 'Olf lcer I,hi l l ips:

. . .7 :30.7:45 . . .  whcn Ol l lccr  Phi l l ips arr ivcd . . .  p laccd h is  i tenrs on the X-ray
machine and had hand rne a bag. which appeared to have a gallon ol 'rni lk and a box
of It i tz crackcrs. . . .  I  took thc bag. recognizing that i t  was lbod itenrs .. .  I  accepted it
and set i t  on the counter.

Then at thal t ime I picked up the wand. I went ovcr and clcared Ms. 
' l 'e. jcra 

and came
back. While I st i l l  had the wand in rny hand, Mr. Phil l ips had clearcd the metal
de tcc to r .  I - i L r s t took thcwandand lwen tac ressbo ths idcso l ' t he  bac toc l ca r i t .

Basical ly. whcn I ran the wand against thc side with t l ie nri lk i t  did not alert. And I
ran it  along the side with the box o1'crackers and it  did. At that t imc I askccl Mr.
Phillips to empty the contents of the bag.

...  once the milk cleared, he set i t  down. .. .  he was hesitat ing - - and I said "Could
you rcnlove what's in the box?" So he opens t l ie box and he pulled out a sleeve of
crackers and held up. Of course I used the wand and itcnis cleared. .. .

29. The purpose of SA Westbrook's invest igat ion was to deternr ine i l 'Of l lccr Phi l l ips l rad violated rules and
regulat ions by havirrg a cel l  phone at the inst i tut ion. (Tr.266).

30. The witness also test i f led that he gave the r ,varden his prel i rninary assessment in May 2008 "that I
rvould not be sustaining thc charge." ( ' l ' r .27l) .
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Testimony presented by the Agency clearly demonstrated a bona flde concern fbr Complex

security and the integrity of the working environment. As a result. a set of rules and procedurcs wcre

implentented lbr thc prevention of contraband entcring thc insti tut ion. Tlte Agency's introduction

o1'Ofl lcer l-emples' tcstimony rcvealed I i is suspicion arising thror.rgh discovcry of a cel l  pl ionc and

charger. locatcd within a t ightly n,oLrnd plastic bag. within an opcn box ol ' l l i tz crackcrs. within a

plastic bag carried by Oll iccr I '}hi l l ips as he passcd through thc security point and attemptccl to cntcr

the insti tut ion on February 10, 2008. As this Arbitrator vicr.vcd thc circumstances, Ollcer' l 'emples'

suspicion was neither unreasonable nor unjusti l ied and he took rcsponsible steps in rcport ing the

discovcry.

The Agency also introducecl eviclcnce to rcvcal t l ial imnrecliate steps wcrc taken to al lcviatc

secr"rr i ty concenrs by rerroving Olirccr Phil l ips l iom l i is rcgular assignnrcnt and placing hinr in

another assignmcnt. ' l 'he 
disct)very. suspicion and report ol ' the ccl l  pl-ronc and chargcr cntcring t l-re

it ist i tr ' r t ion lead to an invcstigation whicl i .  in thc be l icl 'ol ' this Arbitrator. was pcrlbrr lecl within

appropriate guidelincs. I lowcvcr. i t  is ol 'signi l icant notc that thc invcstigativc rcports and OIG

deternrination was that the charges/al lcgations against Oll icer I)hi l l ips wcrc unlbuncled. O1'grcatcr

signil icance was the fact that the Fcderal Bureau o1'Prisons closed thc case. (Sec U-4). Ol ' l lcer

Phil l ips was returned to his rcgular duty assignmcnt in . lunc 2008.

I '{owever. in the opinion o1'this Arbitrator, while the Agency took appropriate stcps in

fbl lowing administrative procedurcs and l ir l f i l l ing i ts managenrent obligations, Ofl lcer Phil l ips

remained "innocent" of thc charges and was entit lcd to be trcatcd l ir ir ly and cquitably. 
' l 'hus, 

thc

question remains. whcn the Agcncy acteclto renlove Ofl lcer Phil l ips l ioni his "security" assignment,

did the Agency correspondingly treat the Grievant appropriately in reassigning him to CAts and

denying Oflcer I'}hillips ovcrtime opportunities.
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... and then he takes the other sleeve of cracers. whicli I wanded. which cleared. And.
again, there was sor.ne delay. ... So again I was waiting fbr him to continue. At that
time he reached in and hc pullcd or-rt a bag such as this. It was tightly wound. When
he pulled it out, he started to unwrap it and held it open. At that time I looked in and
I saw a cell  phonc and a charger,

.. .  as soon as he pulled thc bag out, he did say, "Oh, I lbrgot that was thcre." And of
coursc. I  am giving hint the benefrt o1-the doubt. So I said. "You need to go ahead
and take that to your vehicle." and he did. Once he camc back in he cleared the ntetal
detector and that was it. ('1r.274-279).

Mr. 
' l 'emplcs 

testi l lcd that hc rcported thc incidcnt "becausc I had sr.rspicion." (- l ' r .280). He

prepared a memo. ( ' fr .281 and A-9).

On cross-examinat ion.  Mr. ' l ' cntp les idcnt i f ied

("lrmployees wil l  be al lowcd to takc any t imes not ablc

Oll lccr Phil l ips "did contply and takc thc i tcm to his car."

I)aragraph 3 ol' thc scarch procedurcs

to clcar back") and acknowlcclgcd that

( ' l ' r .291  ) .

OPINION

The burden of proof in tlie instant matter rested with thc Llnion to establish, by clear

evidence. that. by reassigning Oll lcer Phil l ips to work outside thc insl i tut ion dr.rr ing the pcriod hc

wers being investigatccl lor l i is conduct ol ' l"cbruary 1 0. 2008 ancl by clcnyirrg hinr thc opportunity to

rvork overt ime betweetr l iebruary I I  .  2008 and . lunc I 8. 2008, thc Employer actions werc unjusti f ied

and ttrtwarrantcd. In f irrthcrance ol ' i ts burden o1'prool ' .  thc IJnion priniari ly rcl iecl on testimonial

evidencc.

ln the opinion of this Arbitrator, the Union's proof-s were reliable. Offlcer Phillips

fbrthrightly described his removal fiorn the institution and ultimate reassignment to phone

monitoring in the administration building's lobby/reception area. He testifled to being embarrassed

andhumi l i a ted .  O the r ' s . i o ined inh i sv iew tha t i twasapos ts t r i c t l yes tab l i shed lb rJohnPh i l l i ps .
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When he was returned to work afier the incident. Ofllce Phillips expressed how he was

subject to "co-workers .. .  sonte would speak and keep moving on. .. .- iust as i f  . . .  I 'm going to kind

of avoid this guy." (Tr.43). Morcover, Oll lcer Phil l ips revealcd his embarrassment ancl l iumil iat ion

in being assigned to a central administrative building ancl the lobby area wherc he was in view of

other officers and administrators. As the Union President of1bred. "it's not typical fbr an ofllcer to

bc in the CAB building f iont lobby area."rr (1'r.86). Further testinrony ackrrowlcdgcd t l iat Oll lcer

I)hi l l ips was told not to sign-r,rp lbr overt irne and denicd thc opporlunity to work overt imc hours.

'lestimony 
ol'both Special Agents lurther acknowledgcd that, cluring thr: same period oftimc,

OlJlcer Phil l ips gave ful l  cooperation during their investigations. Oddly, while Agent Westbrook

gave thc warden his pre l ini inary assessmcnt in May 2008 (Tr.271). Off ice r Phil l ips was not returncd

to dLrty unti l  latc JLrne 2008. And. despitc bcing rcturncd to duty in . lunc 200ti,  ncithcr hc nor thc

Union receivcd notice the casc was closcd unti l  Fcbruary 2009.

' l 'hus. 
i t  is this Arbi trator 's determinat ion that,  whi le i t  nray have been reasonable fbr the

Agency to remove Ol l lcer Phi l l ips frorn his Tower 7 assignntent and "the center ol . t l ic rccreat ion

yards. in thc ccnter o1' thc inncr conrpouncl" ( ' l - r .172).  i t  was unrcasonablc lbr thc Agcncy to assign

Olf lcer Phi l l ips to a locat ion ol 'embarrassment and hr-rnr i l iat iorr  and unwarrantcd fbr thc Ascncy tcr

dcny him working overt ime fbr 121 days. l 'here were denials that any other employees or pr ior

al legat ions of s imi lar conduct were treated in the sam manner as Ofl lcer Phi l l ips.

31.  As test i t t to t ty  cot t f ln t ted.  l i 'ont  lobby duty rvas only used in twtr  prev iorrs  ass ignrnents,  whcn two other
employees wlro were unable to r.vork around inmates or could not lrave contact r,vith inmates. The exantDle
ci ted were entployees on workrnan's cor.npensat ion or short  tern.r  disabi l i t ies. ( ' l ' r .86-87)
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Despite Warden Drew's earnest comments regarding security concerns (see page 14 of this

Award) and the reasoned removal of the Grievant fiorn his rcgular assignment. this Arbitrator flnds

that Oflccr Phillips receivcd treatnrent dillbrent liom othcr employccs assigned to thc central

administration building lobby. ln addit ion. while reassigned f iorn his regular duties. Ofl lcer Phil l ips

was denied overtime opportunities. Again, the record revealed that others were not denied overtime

opportunit ies when rcassigncd l iom regular duties or uncler invcstigi i t ion. In thc vieu' ol ' t l -r is

Arbitrator. thcrc was no rcason to deny. prcclude or prevcnt Oll icer Phil l ips l iom sirni lar overt imc

opportunit ies.

Finally, this record clearly established that. although the Agency closed Off lccr Phil l ip's case

in . luly 2008. he was not issued notice that the al lcgation ol- "unauthorized clcctronic devicc

introduction" was dctermincd to bc unlbunded and the case closccl lbr nearlv cisht nronths al ier hc

was rcturncd to work in . lune 2008.rr Off lcer Pli i l l ips l ivecl r-rndcr a cloud o1' sr-rspicion and

experienced anxiety and concern fbr his future. It was not until one week prior to the arbitration

hearing that t l ie Union and Off lcer Phil l ips learned thc "case was closecl." In thc vicw ol- this

Arbitrator. Oll lccr I)hi l l ips was Lrnrcasonably sub.iected to onc-year o1'pcrsonal anguish lbr an

allegation. detcrmined within lclLrr months. to be "unlbundcd."r ' '

32. Indecd, t l re Agency prescnted test i rnony that Off icer Phi l l ips was sent two ernai ls in July 2008, advising
hirn that a let ter awaited hirn in t l re Special  Invest igat ions Agents'  of  f ice. The witness test i f led that she did
not recal l  checkingto cott l lnt t  receipt of  the e-mai l ,  s ince i t  was not her procedure. (1-r .222).

33. There should be I to quest ion that the experience "darnagcd the qual i ty of l i f -e and (Ofi icer Phi l l ips')
family in At lanta." ( ' l ' r .43).  Further consider that Off icer Phi l l ips requested a hardship transfer to At lanta,
based ol t  his lather 's tenninal i l lness (pancreat ic and l iver cancer).  I l is f i r thcr 's subsequent death and his
motlrer l iv ing alone was simi lar ly ci ted. (Tr.44 and see U-5).  The Grievant recognized that,  because he was
under invest igat ion, a tral ts l-cr was not possiblc unt i l  the invest igat ion cleared hirrr .  ( ' l ' r .46).
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How the Agency can claim that "we fully understand the anxiety and apprehension that staff

feels when an al legation is made against thcm" (written in . luly 2008. six nionths prior to i ts receipt

by the Union and Oll lcer Phil l ips) strains the credibi l i ty ol ' this Arbitrator. 
' fhe 

lelter is conclr-rsively

a verse without substance. 
'l 'l.re 

words have meaning, but the eflect is ethereal. And, while the

administration prol-essed its action against Ofl lcer Phil l ips was "to maintain the integrity of our

working environment .. . ." the clair l  sounds better than its application. Even if  overly concerned lbr

"security".. iust thrcc ntonths afier thc incidcnt (May 2008) thc Warden was advised t l ic al legation

was unfbunded. While the ovcrwhelnring conccrn fbr safbty of thc insti tut ion was rcpeatedly

expressed. how coLrld the corresponding announcement ol ' the investigation being closed be si lent ' /

I t  is the impression of this Arbitrator that Ofl icer Phil l ips. with a pcrsonnel record

unblcmishcd by prior discipl inc and a work record o1'consistent ovcrt inre, could l iavc propcrly bccn

placed in a position whcre he continr-rcd his correctional perlbrmance and bc available fbr reasonablc

overt ime. The Agency's "sincere appreciation" fbr Ofl lcer I 'hi l l ip's "cooperation" in bringing his

case to a close was not ntatched wit l i  appropriate prr) l tounccmrcnt. Instcad, by treating Off lcer

Phil l ips in a manner less than l 'air and ccluitablc. thc Agcncy's action can only bc charactcrizcd as

unwarranted and unj r"rstilicd.

l'he Union has established. by clear evidence, that, by the manner of reassignment of Oflicer

Phil l ips and the denial of overt irne fbr his al leged conduct o1'February 10. 2008. was Lrnreasonable.

Morcover. by denying Ofl lccr Phil l ips the opportunity to work ovcrt imc bctwccn February 1 l ,  2008

and June 18,2008, the Agency caused the Grievant to lose substantial overt imc opportunit ies and

income.
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As this Arbitrator has determined, the Union established. by clear and convincing evidence,

that the Agency's actions in removing Off icer Phil l ips f iom the insti tut ion and precluding him from

oveftinte opportunity wcrc unjustilled. unwarranted. disparatc and unreasonable.'ta

Next, this Arbitrator turns to the remedy fbr the unjustified and unwarranted actions taken

against Ofllcer Phillips.r5 With the direct contract authority to issuc an appropriate rcmcdy, this

Arbitrator dirccts a compcnsatory. monetary award. The sinrple and corrcct rnetliod of rcntcdy in

the instant nratter sl ial l  bc an itwarcl lor lost overt inte opportunit ics. calcLrlatccl by past rccords ol '

perfbrntance and in response to tlic actual monetary loss o1-inconre by Officer Phillips.

What were the damages incurred by Ofl icer Phil l ips'/  The record established that Oficer

Phil l ips was ofT regular duty statr-rs fbr l2l days and. cluring t l iat period o1't irnc, lost repeated

overt intc opportunit ies. l-hc LJnion also dcrlonstratecl that ovcrt inre opportunit ics wcrc a rcgular and

routinc assignment in thc insti tut ion and Oll lcer I '}hi l l ips prcviously workccl an e xtcnsivc amount ol '

regular and voluntary overt iure shi l is. Between October 2007 and l;ebruary 2008, Ol' l iccr l ,hi l l ips

earned more than $ 17.000 fbr approximately 450 overtime hours (calculated at the overtime rate of

$36 per hour). (Tr.236 and tJ-5). There was no contention that the Gricvant ever refused overt imc.

34. 
- l 'hc 

tertn of "outrageous" could be added, whcn charactcr iz ing nranagerncnt 's trcatrnent ol 'Of l lccr
Phi l l ips and considerirrg thc Grievant rvorked six r .r . ronths (af icr reinstaterncnt) unclcr a ckrud ol-arrxiety and
suspicion befbre receipt of  actual not ice that the charges (o1" 'Unauthorizecl  t lectronic Device lntroduct iorr")
werc determined by the Ofl ice of lntcrnal Af lairs to be unfbunded ancl the casc against hinr c losecl.  Ikrwever,
because this Arbitrator is ernpowered to remedy the treatrnent of Otflcer Phillips through a damagc awarcl,
luf ther character izat ion wi l l  be avoided.

35. Mcet ingthe f l rst  prongof the "two-prongtest" advanced by the Agency. 
' l -he 

Agcncy had arguecl that,
because'the personnel act ions were not unjust i f ied or unwarranted'  under law Code of Federal  Regulat ions
5 C.F.R. 550.803 (see Footnote 4. above),  t l te Union could not prove that Off lccr Phi l l ips woLrld have been
of-fered specif ic overt ime assignments on specif ic dates. I t  was the posit ion of the Agency that the Union's
dernaltd was speculat ive and the ovcrt ime opporturr i t ies had beerr nrarkedly decreased.
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Likewise. Ms. White conf-irmed there were 972 overtime opportunities during the period of

his "denial", although not al l  would be available to Oft- icer Phil l ips.r6 (Tr.200). Shc calculated that

Off iccr Phil l ips lost 72 hours ol 'overt irne opportunity cach week during the pcriod Irebruary 1 1'r '  to

June l9'h.2008. As thc rccord rcl lected. Ms. White basecl on her calculation on "rnaximurr" lost

ovcrt ime opportunit ics, wit l i  O1'l lcer Phil l ips losing f lvc overt intc opportLrnit ies during his work

week and two on each day the Grievant was oll'work (assuming he worked double shilis on each of

his two days ofl).  At cight (8) hoLrrs per shif i ,  Ms. White calculated that Off lcer Phil l ips lost 72

hor t r so fovc f t i r nepc rwcck .  ( ' l ' r . 210 ) .  O f f i cc rPh i l l i pswaspa idS24 . l0pe rhour . cappcc la t$36 .

Iror purposes of rentedial calculation. this Arbitrator acknowledgcs that thc Grievant woLrld

not have worked cvcry availablc ovcrt inrc hor,rr (purportcdly. T2 hours) cach wcck. At thc sanrc

time, bascd on his prior pcrsonncl and pay rccords, i t  is not unrcasonablc to conclLrdc that Oflrcer

Phil l ips wor-rld havc workecl lbrty (40) hours o1'overt inre each weck cluring the period betwecn

February I l ' r 'and.lune 18'h.2008. And, given that the Grievant did not work, this Arbitrator is of

the view that calculating his damages at his regular. straight-t ime hourly rate of $24.10 (as opposed

to his overl ime rate ol$36 pcr hour) is botl i  conscrvativc ancl r-norc rcasonablc.

As such. this Arbitrator calculatcs and dcternrir.rcs that Oll lccr Phil l ips lost $9(r4 ol 'ovcrt intc

opportunity each wcck ancl. during the scvcntccn ( 17) wcck periocl ol 'reerssignrlcnt without ovcrt inte

oppor tuni ty ,heor$16,3t t8 .00. ' l 'h isArb i t ra tord i rects theBr. r rcauofPr isonstomakeOl l iccr . lohnny

Phillips whole fbr the unjustified and unwarranted personncl action in the fbrm o1-conlpensatory

damages in t l ie amount of $16,388.00. Payment shall  be made within a reasonable period of t ime,

not to exceed thirty (30) days fiorn the date of this Award.

36. Wlren asked, Ms. White acknowledged that a total  of  1,776 hours of overl i r re occurred when Off icer
Plt i l l ips was dcnicd overt i rnc opportunity during the period ol ' f rebruary I  I ' r ' through June l9 'h 2008.
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In summation, based on the record. this Arbitrator frnds that the Agency violated the Master

Agreement by reassigning Off icer. lohnny Phil l ips to work outside the Insti tut ion dr.rr ing the period

he was being investigated fbr his concluct of February 10. 2008 and by denying Oll lccr Phil l ips thc

opportunity to r,vork ovctl imc betwccn Ircbruary 1 l .  2008 and .Iunc 18. 200f1. While the Agcncy's

dccision to remove Oll icer Pli i l l ips l iom his regular assignmcnt was within i ts management r ights

under the Master Agrcement and operational procedures. this Arbitrator finds that the Agency's

actions in reassigning Ofl icer Phil l ips to the posit ion outside the insti tut ion and by denying Ofl lcer

Phil l ips the opportnnity to work ovcrl ime was both un justi f led and unwarrantcd. Thcsc f indings and

detenninations were rcached by clear ancl cclnvincing cviclencc produccd at hcaring.

Whcrc thc Agcncy ntay i lrgue that i t  is reasonablc to rcrnovc. rcassign and dcny ovcrt intc to

arr of l lccr dr"rr i l tg thc pcriod ol 'an i trtcrnal investigation. therc nrust bc rccognit ion that nranagcment's

decision docs not solely rest with operational concerns ol ' the Agency br.rt analyzed ancl balanced with

the potential al l-ects on the individual employee and the consideration of the Master Agrcenrent.

Herein. the Agency leapt to enfbrcc i ts secr-rr i ty concerns. but took actions which did not consider

the efl 'ccts on the individual employec nor his entit lcments unclcr thc Mastcr Agrccnrurt. ThLrs, by

its decision to removc Oll lcer I '}hi l l ips. reassign him anothcr building withoLrt thc opportunity fbr

overt ime. ult imatcly dctcrmincd to be uniusti l led and unwarranted. the Agency actions lead to a

contract violation and damagcs to the individual employee. 'l 'he 
Award ol'this Arbitrator attempts

to make Ollrcer. lohnny Phil l ips w,hole, to the extent possiblc. fbr his losses.
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In consonance with the proof's and upon the record. this Arbitrator hereby renders the

fol lowing:

AWARI)
FMCS Case No. 08-56532

l. 
'fhe 

Agency. as Employer. violated the Master Agreement by reassigning
Comection Ollrcer . lohnny Phil l ips, thc Grievant. to work outside t l ie
insti tut ion dr-rr ing the period he was being invcstigated fbr his conduct ol '
February 10, 2008 and by denying him the opportunity to work overt ime
betwccr.r Irebruary 1 l .  2008 and . lunc 18. 2008.

2. 
' l -hc 

violation of the Mastcr Agreenrent is bascd on t l i is Arbitrator's f inding
that the Agency's actions werc uniusti l led and unwarranted.

3. 1'he grie varnce submittcd by the Union on belial l 'oI 'Correction Oll lccrJohnny
Phil l ips. the Grievant. shall  be sustained.

4. As thc retnedy in this matter. the Agency shall  contpcnsatc Oll lccr. lohnny
Pli i l l ips lbr the uniusti l lcd and unwarrantcd rcassignment and dcnial of
overt inte opportr"rnit ies by conrpensating his loss ol 'ovcrt inrc incontc in thc
amount  of  $17.388.00.  as ca lcu lated in  the above Opin ion. .

4. This Arbitrator sl.ral l  retained.jLrr isdict ion o1't l i is nrattL-r as to questions
relating 1o application of the remedy

Datcd: July 24, 2009
Shor-t I l i l ls. New Jersey

STA'l ' tr  OF NIIW JBRSIIY )

: S S

COUNTY OF ESSI]X )

.1. J. PIERSON, Esq., Arbitrator

l .  J.  .1.  PIITRSON. Esq..  ot . t  my oat l i .  do attest to being the person who has executed the
fbregoing instrument and issr"red the above Award on.luly 25.2009 fbr delivery to the parties.

J.  .1.  Pierson, Attorney-at- [ .aw. State ol 'NewJersey
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